1960

Sterling Jacobson and Central Utah Block Co. v. Ralph Memmott et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Plaintiffs are the owners of an unpatented placer mining claim located in Millard County, Utah, which is principally valuable for volcanic cinders and the Defendants own an unpatented placer claim immediately adjacent to the claim of the Plaintiffs which is also principally valuable

for volcanic cinders. The Plaintiffs and the Defendants are both operating their respective claims and marketing cinders therefrom.

The Plaintiffs commenced the present action for the condemnation of a right-of-way across the mining claim owned by the Defendants for the purpose of transporting materials and supplies and cinders to and from their mining claim.

At the time the matter was set down for hearing on the question of damages which would accrue to the Defendants as a result of such condemnation, the Plaintiffs, with leave of Court, amended their complaint by attaching a map showing the course of the center line of a roadway across Plaintiffs' claim. The Plaintiffs' complaint was further amended in such a manner as to pray for right-of-way across Defendants' property which the Plaintiffs would move to any feasible road across Defendants' property upon receiving reasonable notice to do so and having an opportunity to construct said road when it became necessary for the Defendants to mine the cinders lying under said road or roads.

The Defendants moved that the Complaint, as amended, be dismissed on the ground that the prayer of the complaint was uncertain, and that the right-of-way could not be fixed with such certainty as to permit the Defendants to defend against it; and upon the ground that the laws of the State of Utah contemplate the taking of a right-of-way which is fixed and certain and which can be ascertained from the prayer of the Complaint and at the time of condemnation judgment.

An Order was entered denying Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and granting Plaintiffs a surface right-of-way across the Defendants' claims and upon the condition that when it became necessary for the Defendants to mine cinders under the designated right-of-way and upon reasonable notice to the Defendants, Plaintiffs would move said right-of-way to some other feasible route over the Defendants' property.

The Defendants immediately petitioned the above entitled Court for an Order permitting them to take this Intermediate Appeal which Order has been heretofore granted.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS AND IN RULING THAT A FLOATING OR VARIABLE RIGHT OF WAY MAY BE CONDEMNED.

- A. The Order of the Court denied the Defendants the opportunity of proving that the property of the Defendants is already appropriated to the same public use to which the Plaintiffs propose to put their property and that the public use to which it is applied is a more necessary public use because of the quality and quantity of the cinders underlying the proposed right-of-way.

- B. The laws of the State of Utah do not contemplate that a floating or variable right-of-way may be condemned.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS AND IN RULING THAT A FLOATING OR VARIABLE RIGHT OF WAY MAY BE CONDEMNED.

- A. The Order of the Court denied the Defendants the opportunity of proving that the property of the Defendants is already appropriated to the same public use to which the Plaintiffs propose to put their property and that the public use to which it is applied is a more necessary public use because of the quality and quantity of the cinders underlying the proposed right-of-way.

1. The property owned by the Plaintiffs is principally valuable for the volcanic cinders under the surface of the entire claim. The cinders vary in quality and in depth at different points upon said mining claim. The nature of the mining operation required for the removal and marketing of volcanic cinders requires an open pit mining method which necessarily destroys surface rights of way. Volcanic cinders are of such a nature that a surface right-of-way could not be undermined and any support left for a surface

road. For this reason the practical effect of the granting of a right-of-way across said property would prohibit the Defendants from mining the cinders thereunder. It is impossible to grant a right-of-way across the mining claim of the Defendants without interfering with their mining operation and depriving them of material which could be recovered and marketed.

Pursuant to Section 78-34-4, Utah Code Annotated 1953, certain conditions are made precedent to the taking of any property by condemnation and it is expressly provided under Sub-paragraph 3, “* * * if [the property to be condemned is] already appropriated to some public use, * * * the public use to which it is to be applied [must be] a more necessary public use.”

It is, therefore, incumbent upon Plaintiffs to prove that the recovery of material upon their properties is a higher and more necessary public use than the recovery of the same type material upon the Defendants' property. It appears that it would become mandatory for the Court to consider the amount of material under the roadway condemned by the Plaintiffs which could not be recovered by the Defendants. If the amount of material lost by the Defendants is substantial, the easement prayed for by the Plaintiffs should be denied. They should not be allowed to deprive the Defendants from mining the same type material and marketing it for the same purposes because it would be more convenient or more economical for the Plaintiffs to cross their property. If a fixed easement were required by the Order of the District Court, it would be possible for the Defendants to measure accurately the amount

of material condemned and accurately show to the Court the volume taken in order that the Court could determine whether the suppressions of mining on Defendants' claim is required in the public interest.

B. The laws of the State of Utah do not contemplate that a floating or variable right-of-way may be condemned.

1. Rights of way are commonly granted by deed or by prescription. In the present case easements may be taken involuntarily and granted by decree of Court under a condemnation proceeding. The Court by its order contemplates the granting of an easement which would be uncertain in its nature and would violate the rule that the location of an easement must be certain to the extent that it can be identified by the parties. The location of an easement once selected cannot be changed by either the land owner or the easement owner without the other's consent. (17A American Jurisprudence, Easements Section 103, Page 713; *Tripp vs. Bagley*, 74 Utah 57, 276 Pacific 912.)

The reason for this rule is that treating the location as variable would incite litigation and depreciate value of the entire property and discourage, if not make impossible, improvement of the land with which the easement is charged.

An examination of the Statutes of the State of Utah authorizing the condemnation of easements to be used incident to the mining and milling of minerals does not purport to authorize a variable or floating easement which could be placed upon the property of the Defendants and

cause continual litigation between them. Such an Order would have the effect of condemning the entire property of the Defendants and creating a situation where the question of what is "reasonable notice from the Defendants" and the question of "other feasible place for a right-of-way" is always left open. It appears that such an Order would avoid the very question which a condemnation suit seeks to settle: The exact location of the easement and the value of the property so taken. The Order granted by the District Court herein would serve only to confuse a jury and to create the illusion that no property was being taken while in fact the entire mining operation of the Defendants would be subject to continued litigation or continual negotiations and adjustments to coincide with the plans of the Plaintiffs herein.

It would be impossible for the Defendants to place upon the property improvements which might interfere with the road way later to be selected by the Plaintiffs or to mine in such a manner as to leave no other feasible route after the present selected roadway was mined.

Also, it must be kept in mind that it is possible for Defendant to acquire surface rights upon placer mining claims for purposes in addition to those incident to the mining of the material alone.

An examination of the authority extended by our statutes to condemn conclusively demonstrates a lack of authority to grant a variable or floating easement.

Section 78-34-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 under Subparagraph 5 designates use for which the right may be exercised and the word "road" is set out.

The word "road" indicates a fixed and certain surface easement over which the parties could travel.

2. Section 78-34-5, Utah Code Annotated 1953, entitled "Right of Entry of Survey" sets forth in detail the authority of the parties seeking to condemn to go on property sought to be condemned and to examine, survey, and map the same in order to make an exact location upon the property of an easement which would be most compatible with the greatest public good and least private injury. This Section requires an exact designation of route in order that proper notice may be given to the Defendants and that they may be allowed to defend the action.

3. Section 78-34-6, Utah Code Annotated 1953, is entitled "Complaint — Contents" and specifically requires among other things that the complaint must contain: "(4) If a right-of-way is sought, the Complaint must show its location, general route, termini, and must be accompanied by a map thereof so far as the same is involved in the action or proceedings.

"(5) The description of each piece of land sought to be taken and whether the same includes the whole or only part of the entire parcel or tract * * *".

The above section makes it an absolute requirement that the Plaintiffs set forth the exact description of the property sought to be condemned and also requires that the Complaint must be accompanied by a map thereof showing the exact route. The Order entered by the District Court in this matter is entirely inconsistent and cannot be reconciled with this Section.

4. Section 78-34-9, Utah Code Annotated 1953, authorizes occupation of the premises pending the condemnation action and allows the Plaintiffs to move the Court or Judge thereof at any time after the commencement of suit, upon notice of the Defendants, for an Order permitting the Plaintiffs to occupy the premises sought to be condemned. The section provides: “(A) That the Court, or a Judge thereof, shall take proof by affidavit or otherwise of the value of the premises sought to be condemned and of the damages which shall accrue from the condemnation.” The section also provides that if the Motion is granted, the Court shall require the Plaintiff to execute and file in Court a bond to the Defendants, with sureties to be approved by the Court, and the penal sum to be fixed by the Court, not less than double the value of the premises sought to be condemned and the damages which will ensue from condemnation, as the same may appear to the Court on hearing, and conditioned to pay the adjudged value of the premises and all damages in case the property is condemned. The Court also has the granted authority, pending the action, to restrain the Defendants from interfering or hindering the occupation of the premises by the Plaintiffs.

This Code Section requires that a Judge must have such knowledge of a fixed route as to be able to determine reasonable damages which may accrue to the land owner. The Court must also have such knowledge of a fixed route that it may enjoin the Defendants from interfering with the easement granted to the Plaintiffs. Also Section 78-30-10, Utah Code Annotated 1953, entitled “Compensation and Damages — How Assessed”, provides that a jury may

hear the question of damages and assess such damages as would cover the value of the property sought to be condemned and all improvements thereon, together with damages to other properties not directly condemned.

It would be impossible for the Defendants in this matter to present the question of damages properly to the jury for assessment. The mining claim of the Defendants is valuable principally for volcanic ash. The deposits vary in depth across the entire claim in such a manner that the ash condemned and made unavailable for mining purposes to the Defendants would not be subject to reasonable proof. The District Court would undoubtedly instruct the jury in accordance with the Order authorizing the Plaintiffs to amend their complaint and pray for a variable easement. Such an instruction by necessity would require the Court to state to the jury that no mining materials were made unavailable to the Plaintiffs and that the road could be moved from time to time while in fact the easement of the Plaintiffs would make it impossible for the Defendants to mine under or near the roadway granted.

CONCLUSION

Defendants and Appellants respectfully contend in summary and conclusion that the Order of the District Court authorizing the condemnation of a variable uncertain easement goes beyond any statutory authorization under the laws of the State of Utah. The Order appealed from herein further denies the opportunity to assert the defense that the property sought to be condemned is already put to a

public use as high or higher in stature than the use to which the land is sought to be put under these condemnation proceedings.

We respectfully contend that the order of the District Court evades the very question before it to be determined. It does not determine specific land to be condemned but creates a situation whereby the parties are continually litigating the question of the moving of an easement upon "reasonable demand" and upon other "feasible routes".

It is respectfully urged that this Court reverse the Order heretofore entered and instruct the District Court to deny Plaintiffs' motion to amend their Complaint to provide for a variable right-of-way.