1960

# Sterling Jacobson and Central Utah Block Co. v. Ralph Memmott et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendants have been permitted to take an intermediate appeal from an order of the District Court of Millard County, Utah, entered on July 10, 1959 (R. 28-32), denying defendants' motion to dismiss plaintiffs' complaint as the same was further amended at the hearing reflected by the order. The amended complaint (R. 12-13) denominates the plaintiff's mining claim as the "Red Robin" and the defendants' adjoining mining claim as the "Red Hill." The amendments permitted by the trial court are set forth in the order of July 10, 1959, and are incorporated in the amended complaint by reference. In other words, the amended complaint and the order permitting the further amendments must be read together to determine the propriety of the motion to dismiss. Furthermore, the order appealed from permitted plaintiffs to further amend by adding as Exhibit 4 the map showing the course of the center line of the present existing roadway across defendants' claim.

The order of July 10, 1959, grants to plaintiffs a surface right-of-way to be used jointly with the defendants across the existing roadway upon the condition "that when it becomes necessary for the defendants to mine the cinders lying under said right-of-way, and upon reasonable notice from the defendants, plaintiffs will move said right-of-way to some other feasible place over defendants' claim" (R. 31-32). The amendments

to the amended complaint as reflected in the July 10th order are:

(Paragraph 5)

“Plaintiffs are entitled to have a right-of-way for the purposes hereinbefore set forth over the premises known as the Red Hill Mining Claim for the purposes of transporting their ore and supplies to and from the mining operations over the present existing road, which is approximately one rod wide, or if defendants so desire, over the present and proposed road that should be approximately the same width, and which road or roads may be used jointly by the occupants or individuals joining Red Hill Mining Claim, and that plaintiffs will move from the present existing road to any other feasible road across defendants’ mining claim upon receiving reasonable notice to do so and having an opportunity to construct such road when it becomes necessary for defendants to mine the cinders lying under said road or roads.” (R. 28-29)

(Paragraph 3 of the prayer)

“That upon the payment of the value of the same plaintiffs be granted a perpetual right of way and easement over and across said lands as set forth in the complaint, provided, however, that if it becomes necessary in the mining operations of defendants’ claims to remove the material under said right-of-way that upon reasonable notice, plaintiffs will move the right-of-way to any other feasible place over defendants’ claim.” (R. 29)

Defendants contend (a) that their property is already appropriated to the same public use proposed

by plaintiffs, and (b) the complaint does not specify the land to be condemned but sets forth a claim to a "floating" or "variable" right-of-way, and therefore the action should be dismissed.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I.

THE CLAIM THAT DEFENDANTS' PROPERTY IS ALREADY APPROPRIATED TO A PUBLIC USE REQUIRING PROOF BY PLAINTIFFS OF A MORE NECESSARY PUBLIC USE MISCONCEIVES THE ISSUE INVOLVED.

### POINT II.

PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT AS AMENDED BY THE ORDER OF JULY 10, 1959, STATES A CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE CLAIM THAT DEFENDANTS' PROPERTY IS ALREADY APPROPRIATED TO A PUBLIC USE REQUIRING PROOF BY PLAINTIFFS OF A MORE NECESSARY PUBLIC USE MISCONCEIVES THE ISSUE INVOLVED.

Unless it be the existing roadway, there is no suggestion in this case that any of defendants' property is devoted to public use within the connotation of Subsection (3) of Section 78-34-3, *Utah Code Annotated* 1953, which reads:

"The private property which may be taken under this chapter includes:

\* \* \*

(3) Property appropriated to public use; provided, that such property shall not be taken unless for a more necessary public use than that to which it has been already appropriated."

The right-of-way granted by the order appealed from is centered along a present existing roadway on defendants' property, the right to be used in common with the defendants. Assuming for the purpose of argument that the present roadway has become dedicated or appropriated to public use, the plaintiffs are not proposing a taking which is inconsistent or in interference with or an impairment of the first taking, and there defendants' argument is not applicable. In 2 *Lewis Eminent Domain*, Section 441, Third Edition, it is said:

"The general rule is founded upon the presumption that the legislature did not intend, by a general grant of the eminent domain power, to authorize an interference with the enjoyment of property devoted to public use under prior grants of the same power. A taking which is no interference present or prospective with the prior use, is not within the rule. Consequently it is generally held that an easement or joint use may be appropriated, where the two uses are not inconsistent and the second is no interference with or impairment of the first. Taking an easement for a telegraph or telephone line upon a railroad right of way is a familiar example."

In *Salt Lake City v. Salt Lake City Water & Elec. Power Co.*, 24 Utah 249, 67 P. 672, it is said:

"Under the statutes of eminent domain the law seems to be well settled that, where two



public uses can stand together without material impairment or impediment of one by the other, they must so stand. This court so held in *Postal Tel. Cable Co. v. Oregon S. L. R. Co.*, 23 Utah 474, 65 Pac. 735. In deciding a like question in the case of *Boston Water Power Co. v. Boston & W. R. Corp.*, 23 Pick. 360, Mr. Chief Justice Shaw said: 'Both uses may well stand together, with some interference of the later with the earlier, which may be compensated for in damages.' Lewis, Em. Dom. Section 274; *Mining Co. v. Corcoran*, 15 Nev. 147; *Bridge Co. v. Dix*, 6 How. 507, 12 L. Ed. 535; *In re Towanda Bridge Co.*, 91 Pa. 216; *Enfield Toll Bridge Co. v. Hartford & N.H.R. Co.*, 17 Conn. 454, 44 Am. Dec. 556."

The Utah statute was construed in *Freeman Gulch Min. Co. v. Kennecott Copper Corp.* (10 Cir., 1941), 119 F.2d 16:

"A statute granting the right of eminent domain for a particular purpose must be liberally construed in furtherance of such purpose. *Monetaire Mining Co. v. Columbus Rexall Consol. Mining Co.*, 53 Utah 413, 174 P. 172, 175.

While we think the facts demonstrate beyond question that the use for which Kennecott seeks condemnation is a more necessary public use than the use to which the property is being devoted by Freeman, the question of greater necessity is not involved where the condemner seeks the right to use the property in common with the present owner thereof. *Monetaire Mining Co. v. Columbus Rexall Consol. Mining Company*, supra, 174 P. 176.

We shall assume, but not decide, that the property here sought to be condemned is now

devoted to a public use. It is well settled that property devoted to one public use may, under general statutory authority, be taken for another public use, where the taking will not materially impair or interfere with, or is not inconsistent with the use already existing. Such a taking is expressly authorized by Section 104-61-3(5)."

In *Postal Tel. Cable Co. v. Oregon S.L.R. Co.*, 23 Utah 474, 65 P. 735, the contest was between the Postal Company and the Railway Company, the former seeking a right-of-way for a pole line upon the railroad right-of-way. In holding that the reference to the railroad bed is a sufficient description under the statute, and that the business of telegraphy is obviously a public business and that the Postal Company had the right to exercise the power of eminent domain, the Court stated, as between the two possible conflicting uses of the property sought to be condemned, the following:

"It is contended by appellant that the respondent had no power to locate its telegraph line longitudinally upon appellant's right of way, because, when the lands have been once taken, by virtue of the power of eminent domain or otherwise, and appropriated to a public use, as is the right of way in controversy, such land cannot again be subjected to another public use, unless such secondary appropriation be authorized by the legislature. The authorities, however, affirm that this rule only applies when the second public use, by reason of its nature or character, necessarily supersedes or destroys the former use."

In the instant case the existing roadway over the

defendants' mining claim, if appropriated to public use, is to be used in common with defendants for the same purposes, namely: that of transporting ore and supplies, a use which does not supersede or destroy the former use. The early case of *Highland Boy Gold Min. Co. v. Strickley*, 28 Utah 215, 78 P. 296, holds that the construction and operation of roads for the development and working of mines is a public use, the Court stating in part:

“Now, it is of vital importance to the people that the coal, as well as the other hidden resources of the state, be opened up and developed, and that the mining industry in general, which has been the source of so much wealth to the people of this and other Western states, be conducted on the same extensive scale in the future that has characterized its operations in the past. Therefore the public policy of the state, as exemplified by the act of the Legislature under consideration, is to encourage the people to open up and exploit the mines with which the state abounds, and thereby not only give to the state the wealth which will enable other industries to be created, but furnish thousands of laborers with remunerative employment.

It being conceded, and this court having held, that the construction and operation of irrigating ditches in this state is a public use (*Nash v. Clark*, 27 Utah 158, 75 P. 371), it follows that the construction of roads and tramways for the development of the mining industry is a public use, as the same line of reasoning that applies in support of the doctrine in the one case holds good in the other.”

Defendants' resistance to the use by the plaintiffs of the present existing roadway implies a private use and one that they might discontinue at their pleasure. In this regard 2 *Lewis Eminent Domain*, Section 445, Third Edition, states:

“Property of individuals and private corporations devoted to a use of a public nature for which the power of eminent domain might be exercised, but which use is purely voluntary and may be discontinued at the pleasure of the owner, is subject to condemnation under a general power the same as if devoted to private uses.”

## POINT II.

PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT AS AMENDED BY THE ORDER OF JULY 10, 1959, STATES A CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED.

Subsection (5) of Section 78-34-3, *Utah Code Annotated* 1953, containing the language that all rights-of-way for the purposes mentioned in Section 78-34-1, which latter section permits the exercise of the right of eminent domain for roads to facilitate the working of mines or mineral deposits, and Subsection (1) of Section 78-34-2 to the effect that when the surface ground is underlaid with minerals sufficiently valuable to justify extraction a perpetual easement may be taken only over the surface ground over such deposits, and the last portion of Subsection (5) of Section 78-34-3 “but such uses of crossings, intersections and connections shall be made in the manner most compatible with the greatest public benefit and the least private injury,”

invite the amendment to paragraph 5 of the complaint permitted by the July 10th order (R. 28-32).

Defendants say that the amendment contemplates “a floating or variable right-of-way” and therefore the complaint as amended does not state a claim upon which relief can be granted. On the contrary, the amendment is calculated to mitigate the damage and injury to the defendants. It recognizes the joint use of the present existing road and permits a change upon reasonable notice *by the defendants* when it becomes necessary for them to mine the cinders underlying the existing road, the court to then determine another feasible right-of-way across defendants’ property. Said Section 78-34-2(1) permits only a surface right under the circumstances indicated and by necessary implication permits the mining of the underlying minerals by the defendants, leaving to the resourcefulness of a court of equity within its inherent power to devise a rule flexible and elastic enough to fairly and justly meet the circumstances of the case. This is what the trial court did by permitting the amendment.

Defendants cite *Tripp v. Bagley*, 74 Utah 57, 276 P. 912, to the effect that an easement once selected cannot be changed by either the landowner or the easement owner without mutual consent. The *Tripp* case is not in point and deals primarily with the establishment of boundary lines by acquiescence over a long period of time. Furthermore, the amendment to the complaint in the instant case does not suggest any arbitrary

or coercive right on the part of the plaintiffs, but recognizes the comprehensive and equitable power of the court to make such changes in the surface right-of-way as may be feasible upon the defendants desiring to mine the underlying mineral, if any there be.

From their brief defendants seem to be prejudging their position with respect to damages, an issue expressly reserved by the trial court in the July 10th order. They lose sight of the fact that the statute contemplates a joint user of the right-of-way and an equitable method of determining the compensation based upon all of the known facts and circumstances and such as to reflect justice in the instant case. The joint use and inherent power of the court to devise a formula for compensation based upon the realities of each case is clearly recognized by this Court in *Monetaire Mining Co. v. Columbus Rexall Consol. Mines Co.*, 53 Utah 413, 174 P. 172, where the Court stated:

“Counsel, however, state that there is no way to determine what the compensation shall be to the owner. It is, however, well settled that, where property may be condemned for the purpose of a joint use or a use in common, the whole matter of determining what is a reasonable compensation under all the circumstances, as well as the regulations respecting the use of the property, is determined and regulated according to the rules of equity. 2 Lewis, Eminent Domain (3d Ed.) Section 423.

\* \* \*

In view that the business of mining is necessarily highly speculative; that the prices of most

metals are fluctuating so that to mine a certain grade of ore may be profitable this year while the price may be so much lower the next that it would be ruinous to attempt to mine it; that the contemplated ore bodies may be much smaller in extent than was expected; and numerous other things that might be mentioned — *the joint use of a mining tunnel of necessity must be temporary only. It is for that reason that some equitable method of determining and fixing the compensation for the joint use must be devised which must be based upon all the known facts and circumstances, and must be such as to reflect justice in each case.* To fix the compensation in a lump sum might defeat the very end in view. Some just method of compensation is all the law contemplates, and that is all that can be required in each case. It is manifest that in this case no effort whatever was made by appellant and respondent to arrive at an understanding regarding either the character or extent of compensation, nor with regard to the nature and extent of the use of the tunnel by appellant; and it is equally manifest that so long as the respondent can treat the tunnel in question as its own private affair, to which no one may gain access except by its consent, no such an understanding or agreement is possible.”

Consistent with the foregoing is the recent expression by this Court in re *Water Rights of Escalante Valley Drainage Area*, ..... Utah....., 348 P.2d 679 (Feb. 26, 1960 Advance Sheet), states:

“The inherent power always exists in a Court of equity for devising new and more adequate remedies if the facts of the case justify such

action, and does not conflict with the law. The equitable jurisdiction of the court is and should be flexible, elastic enough to meet changing conditions and problems.”

### CONCLUSION

The *Monetaire Mining Co.* case, *supra*, which recognizes the joint use of a mining tunnel, the use of which of necessity must be temporary, coupled with the expressions of this Court in recognizing the inherent power of the trial court to make its orders and decrees flexible and elastic enough to meet changing conditions and problems, and the recognition by the legislature that the exercise of the right of eminent domain must be compatible with the greatest public benefit and the least private injury, answers the important question in this case dealing with the propriety of the amendments complained of. The order of July 10, 1959, discloses a conscientious judicial approach to the practical solution of an awkward problem, leaving a just method of compensation for future determination.

The order appealed from should be affirmed.